Westvale V1.

A fictitious WR branch line by Gary Soden. With assistance and custom buildings by Phil Baines. 

Thank you for downloading this route. I hope that you enjoy it. Westvale is my attempt to capture the atmosphere of a typical GWR/BR branch line. Although the route is fictitious, three of the station’s track layouts are based on real locations. Only the track layouts are used, and these have in some cases been modified. The buildings and scenery used are a mixture of default items, downloaded items and custom built models. The branch’s terminus, St Margarets, is based on Tetbury. The riverside station of Sneedford is based on Hemyock and the mainline station, Boxfield, is based on Kemble. The signalling for Boxfield is based on signal diagrams, but due to the limitations of MSTS, may not be exactly prototypical. The branch operates under the “one engine in steam” principle. All trains, whether passenger or goods, must stop at Boxfield to exchange the line’s token with the signalman. The period modelled is circa mid 1950’s to late 1960’s, but any pre-nationalisation GWR rolling stock will look at home on the route.

The History of Westvale.

The St Margarets branch, to give it its proper name, first started as a horse drawn tramway in 1833. Wagons were used to transport stone from the quarry a mile or so from St Margarets, down to the riverside village of Cartstone, (which got it’s name from this operation), where it was loaded onto barges for shipment. The loaded wagons descended by gravity and were hauled back up to the quarry by teams of horses. This rather slow and labour intensive process hampered the quarry’s ability to make a decent profit, Added to that the general poor quality of the stone soon spelled disaster for the quarry. In 1881 the quarry ceased production. The rails were removed and the loading facilities at the river dismantled. Many of the dry stone walls seen in the area used the local stone and can still be seen from the railway today.

In the early 1890’s the Westvale Dairy Cooperative petitioned the GWR to build a branch line from their station at Boxfield to the dairy at Sneedford. Seeing the opportunity for some income from the dairy traffic, and general goods traffic to the area, the GWR agreed. In 1895 construction of the branch began and was completed a year later. A small terminus station was also provided along with a simple goods yard. A small spur was also laid into Boxfield gasworks at this time. The dairy traffic proved very lucrative indeed, requiring two or sometimes three trains a day to service the dairy. The residents of St Margarets looked at Sneedford with some envy now that they had a rail connection to Boxfield, and so they asked their local member of parliament to also petition the GWR for a rail link. At first the GWR resisted as construction of the route to St Margarets would involve the building of a tunnel and a viaduct over the river at Cartstone. However, the MP for St Margarets had some friends in influential places and track laying eventually started in 1898. 

St Margarets stationed opened in the summer of 1904. Between 1904 and 1914 traffic was brisk on the line. There were six trains a day between St Margarets and Boxfield, in addition to the milk traffic. With the outbreak of the Great War passenger numbers decreased and the number of daily trains was reduced to four. The line continued like this until the cessation of hostilities in 1918 when the pre-war timetable resumed. Stone transportation was re-started after the opening of a new quarry half a mile north of St Margarets. The newly re-established Westvale Quarry Company purchased three wagons of their own and a private siding with a small loading dock was added to the goods yard. Once again passenger numbers increased especially after the GWR’s innovative marketing ideas that promoted the natural beauty of the area. Westvale became popular with walkers and ramblers, many catching the train to St Margarets and then walking back to Cartstone or Sneedford to catch a return service to Boxfield. It was not uncommon during the summer holiday period to see a 45xx prairie tank toiling up the gradient towards St Margarets with three carriages in tow. Once again war saw a downturn in the lines passenger numbers. However, freight did increase with the transportation of milk from the dairy, and agricultural produce from the surrounding farms, and the opening of an army training camp south of St Margarets saw troop trains using the line up until the camp’s closure in 1950. The Quarry closed and two of the companies’ wagons were left to rot in their siding. The third can be seen at the bottom of an embankment where it came to grief on the sharp Quarry Turn.

After the war the line suffered the same fate as many branch lines. The increase in road traffic taking much of the lines passengers and freight. However, just enough revenue came in to keep the line going. The line was now in the hands of British Railways (WR), who valiantly tried to recreate the GWR’s idea in promoting the line as a tourist attraction. The plan met with some success and in 1959 the line returned the highest passenger figures since nationalisation. The revival did not last for long however, as the motorcar increased it’s domination of the countries transport system. By 1967 the line was barely ticking over and seemed to be there more for the benefit of BR’s employees rather than the passengers. The withdrawal of steam power and the introduction of new diesel multiple units could not revive the lines fortunes. In December 1968 the last passenger train left St Margarets for Boxfield. A very small amount of freight traffic still used the whole length of the branch, but with the demise of the local coal merchant, freight to St Margarets ceased in May 1969. The Dairy at Sneedford still required rail access so the line remained open as far as there. When the dairy converted to road transport the demise of the line was inevitable. The final revenue earning train used the line in August 1972. The remaining track was finally lifted and the St Margarets branch was gone.

Route Description.

The mainline approaching Boxfield from the West passes through open fields in which various arable crops are grown. The line is on a rising gradient, which levels out as the line crosses Station Road Bridge. Immediately before Boxfield station a small siding serves the agricultural merchants warehouse on the left hand side. Behind the station on the right can be seen the engine sheds, goods shed and cattle dock. Boxfield cattle market is conveniently situated close to the goods shed. The line leaves Boxfield under Drovers Road and enters a short cutting before heading out into the countryside to the east on level track. The fairly substantial engine shed at Boxfield was provided to service the pilot locomotives that were detached at Boxfield having been used to assist heavy goods trains up the gradient from the west. The facilities comprise of a three-road shed, a lifting hoist, a turntable and coaling and watering facilities. The shed’s importance dwindled with the introduction of more powerful engines that no longer needed assistance up the gradient. A small diesel-refuelling tank was installed sometime before WWII to refuel the GWR Railcars introduced on to the line at this time. The branch engine was also serviced here with major overhauls being carried out elsewhere.

The branchline leaves the mainline at the east end of Boxfield station and curves away to the north. A run round loop and a couple of sidings are provided here, along with a small goods shed. After leaving the station the line crosses Gasworks Road and a small spur branches left to supply the gasworks with coal. The line then makes it way into open country. An embankment carries the line above a lake to the right and then begins it’s decent to Sneedford. On the left is Peddlesden farm shortly followed by Peddlesden Farm Crossing. An ornate, cast iron footbridge marks the border of land owned by the forestry commission. The line is now in a cutting with conifer and spruce trees on either side. A similar bridge marks the end of the forest. The cutting recedes and fields containing rough scrub and sheep appear on either side. Dales Crossing marks the start of another short cutting after which the line joins the river Sneed. Running parallel to the river Sneedford station is soon reached. The station comprises of a run round goods loop and a small goods yard with a raised corrugated tin goods shed, a 6-ton crane and some coal staithes. The line from the goods yard extends through the station forecourt, past another agricultural merchants and cattle dock, across a road and into the dairy. The actual station is on the main running line just beyond the goods loop. The layout is as it was when the branch was first built to Sneedford, with the extension onwards to St Margarets added onto the terminus of the original branch.

Leaving Sneedford the line runs alongside the river once again for a short distance before crossing it on an iron bridge. Once again the line starts to descend. The line now runs in a shallow valley with fields of cattle and sheep on either side. At the bottom of the hill Cartstone tunnel is reached and the line levels out, (locomotives used regularly on the branch had a tendency to wear their brake shoes out quicker than most others. A good supply of replacements were held at Boxfield engine shed.) Leaving the tunnel another stretch of forestry land is entered and then the line crosses the river on the magnificent Cartstone Viaduct. The drivers of the holiday trains were instructed to slow down while passing over the viaduct to allow the passengers a good view. Shortly after the viaduct the simple station of Cartstone is reached. The station is a single platform affair with a brick built station building and a couple of huts on the platform. The stationmaster’s house is behind the station and in the autumn the train crews were treated to apples from the stationmaster’s trees in his garden. Opposite the station a small orchard was a popular location for Scout camps. Their tents often being seen here. Leaving Cartstone the line crosses St Margarets road and starts to twist towards the climb up to the old quarry. Here the track follows the course of the old tramway and now the gradient is a rising one. Looking to the right the views over the West Vale, from which the line gets its name, become more apparent the higher the train goes. As the train nears the top of the climb a 15mph speed restriction comes into force as the sharpest curve on the branch is reached, known as the Old Quarry Turn. Boulders and rocks are plain to see as the old stone works is passed on the level. The remains of the buildings to be seen on the right. Another wooded area is entered for a short while and then the line starts its final climb towards the terminus of St Margarets. St Margarets is entered past a field of horses and a small terrace of houses. On the right is the goods yard with the coal merchant’s premises tucked behind the terrace. The private siding and loading dock of the, now defunct, Westvale Quarry Company, with two of their wagons slowly decaying where they were left. The goods yard consists of a crane, a goods shed and a cattle dock. Various goods can be seen in the yard awaiting shipment by train, including boxes of soft fruit from the local farms, as well as general goods. The station building itself is a bigger version of the one at Cartstone. The remains of the single road engine shed, which was closed in 1923, with coaling and watering facilities are on the Left.

Operation.

Throughout the life of the branch milk and passengers were the mainstay of the line. There were also other products transported on the St Margarets branch as well. Coal was delivered to the coal merchant at St Margarets, as well as the dairy for their own use. There was also a smaller coal merchant at Sneedford who had staithes in the goods yard. The gasworks at Boxfield was also a big user of coal. Empty tins for powdered milk were delivered to the dairy in box vans, as well as New Zealand butter, which was used in blending the local produce. Other goods out from the dairy included butter, cream and the previously empty tins, now full of powdered milk. Other goods transported on the line included seed and animal feed from the local agricultural merchant, soft fruit from the farms around St Margarets and Cartstone, the occasional wagon load of logs, and other general goods. Milk was delivered to the dairy for processing in churns. Four or six wheeled Siphons were mainly used on the branch up to WWII ordinary box vans being used after 1945. Larger Siphons of type G or H were used to deliver milk to Boxfield and then on to Sneedford. Cattle were also moved to and from the cattle market in Boxfield, which was held every Thursday. Cattle docks being available at Sneedford and St Margarets.

Locomotive types seen on the branch over the years include: -

GWR Metro tanks, 517 tanks, 14xx tanks (the mainstay of the line), Pannier tanks of various classes, Dean Goods, 2251 Goods, 2-6-2 Prairie tanks, 2-6-0 Moguls GWR Railcar, BR standard Ivatt 2-6-0 Moguls. BR diesel types seen on the line have included classes 03, 14, 22, 24/25, 35 (Hymek), 42 (Warship) and DMU’s. Most GWR/BR (WR) steam and diesel classes have been seen at Boxfield at one time or another. 

System Spec’s.

This route was built on a machine with the following specification: -

Pentium 4. 3GHz

1GB RAM

160GB SATA hard drive

ATI Radeon 9800 pro 128mb Graphics

Sound Blaster Audigy sound card

Windows XP pro SP2

MSTS BIN Patch 1.16.5.912.

Frame rates in the most built up area, (Boxfield) average 15-19fps on this machine.
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Thank you Phil.

Contact westvaleroute@btopenworld.com 

Gary Soden. (Neptune50006). 

Legal stuff

FREEWARE NOTICE

1. You can freely copy and distribute this archive, provided that you don't make any modifications to the names or contents of the files included. All original files included in must be present and none added.

2. As the author, I'm retaining the copyright and other rights on this route. Please note that the objects used in this route are either default objects from the MSTS default routes or freeware objects downloaded from the Internet. Please do not copy, sell or alter without the consent of the author.

